2006

State of Utah v. Christopher Simon Castillo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a finding of guilty by a jury in the Second District Court for Aggravated Assault, a third-degree felony, and Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, a second-degree felony. The Defendant entered a guilty plea on August 7, 2006, and was sentenced that same day to serve an indeterminate term of zero to five years at the Utah State Prison and a concurrent indeterminate term of one to fifteen years at the Utah State Prison. The Defendant entered the plea pursuant to the case of *State v. Sery*, 758 P.2d 935 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2a-3(2)(e)(2004).

ISSUE ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

POINT I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT RULED, PURSUANT TO A MOTION IN LIMINE, THAT IT WOULD ALLOW EVIDENCE TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY THAT A FIREARM WAS FOUND 172 DAYS AFTER THE ALLEGED DATE OF THE CRIME.

Standard of Review: This issue should be reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard of review. “The trial court’s ultimate ruling under Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Gulbransen* 106 P.3d 734, 740 (Utah 2005). This issue was preserved when Defendant’s attorney filed a motion in limine (R. 068-071).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

U. S. CONSTITUTION

Sixth Amendment

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH

Article I Section 12

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, and the right to appeal in all cases. In no instance shall any accused person, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed. The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself; a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife, nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Where the defendant is otherwise entitled to a preliminary examination, the function of that examination is limited to determining whether probable cause exists unless otherwise provided by statute. Nothing in this constitution shall preclude the use of reliable hearsay evidence as defined by statute or rule in whole or in part at any preliminary examination to determine probable cause or at any pretrial proceeding with respect to release of the defendant if appropriate discovery is allowed as defined by statute or rule.

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED

§76-5-103. Aggravated assault

- (1) A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Section 76-5-102 and he:
 - (a) intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another; or
 - (b) under circumstances not amounting to a violation of Subsection (1)(a), uses a dangerous weapon as defined in Section 76-1-601 or other means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury.
- (2) A violation of Subsection (1)(a) is a second degree felony.

(3) A violation of Subsection (1)(b) is a third degree felony.

§76-10-503. Possession of a dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person: Restrictions on possession, purchase, transfer, and ownership of dangerous weapons by certain persons

(1) For purposes of this section:

- (a) A Category I restricted person is a person who:
 - (i) has been convicted of any violent felony as defined in Section 76-3-203.5;
 - (ii) is on probation or parole for any felony;
 - (iii) is on parole from a secure facility as defined in Section 62A-7-101; or
 - (iv) within the last ten years has been adjudicated delinquent for an offense which if committed by an adult would have been a violent felony as defined in Section 76-3-203.5.
- (b) A Category II restricted person is a person who:
 - (i) has been convicted of or is under indictment for any felony;
 - (ii) within the last seven years has been adjudicated delinquent for an offense which if committed by an adult would have been a felony;
 - (iii) is an unlawful user of a controlled substance as defined in Section 58-37-2;
 - (iv) is in possession of a dangerous weapon and is knowingly and intentionally in unlawful possession of a Schedule I or II controlled substance as defined in Section 58-37-2;
 - (v) has been found not guilty by reason of insanity for a felony offense;
 - (vi) has been found mentally incompetent to stand trial for a felony offense;
 - (vii) has been adjudicated as mentally defective as provided in the Brady Handgun Violence Prevention Act, Pub. L. No. 103-159, 107 Stat. 1536 (1993), [FN1] or has been committed to a mental institution;
 - (viii) is an alien who is illegally or unlawfully in the United States;
 - (ix) has been dishonorably discharged from the armed forces; or

- (x) has renounced his citizenship after having been a citizen of the United States.
- (2) A Category I restricted person who intentionally or knowingly agrees, consents, offers, or arranges to purchase, transfer, possess, use, or have under his custody or control, or who intentionally or knowingly purchases, transfers, possesses, uses, or has under his custody or control:
 - (a) any firearm is guilty of a second degree felony; or
 - (b) any dangerous weapon other than a firearm is guilty of a third degree felony.
- (3) A Category II restricted person who purchases, transfers, possesses, uses, or has under his custody or control:
 - (a) any firearm is guilty of a third degree felony; or
 - (b) any dangerous weapon other than a firearm is guilty of a class A misdemeanor.
- (4) A person may be subject to the restrictions of both categories at the same time.
- (5) If a higher penalty than is prescribed in this section is provided in another section for one who purchases, transfers, possesses, uses, or has under this custody or control any dangerous weapon, the penalties of that section control.
- (6) It is an affirmative defense to a charge based on the definition in Subsection (1)(b)(iv) that the person was:
 - (a) in possession of a controlled substance pursuant to a lawful order of a practitioner for use of a member of the person's household or for administration to an animal owned by the person or a member of the person's household; or
 - (b) otherwise authorized by law to possess the substance.

§78-2a-3. Court of Appeals jurisdiction.

- 2) The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

- (a) the final orders and decrees resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings of state agencies or appeals from the district court review of informal adjudicative proceedings of the agencies, except the Public Service Commission, State Tax Commission, School and Institutional Trust Lands Board of Trustees, Division of Forestry, Fire and State Lands actions reviewed by the executive director of the Department of Natural Resources, Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining, and the state engineer;
- (j) cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court.

UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE

RULE 403. EXCLUSION OF RELEVANT EVIDENCE ON GROUNDS OF PREJUDICE, CONFUSION, OR WASTE OF TIME

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged by Information with Aggravated Assault, a third-degree felony, a violation of U.C.A. §76-5-103, and Possession of a Dangerous Weapon by a Restricted Person, a second-degree felony, a violation of U.C.A. §76-10-503. The Defendant pled not guilty and filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence found by the police some 172 days after the alleged assault had occurred (R. 068-071). The trial court denied this motion. (Mot. Hearing. Tr. 8).

On August 7, 2006, based on the trial court's ruling on the motion in limine, the Defendant entered an *Alford* plea to the two charges listed above, specifically reserving his right to appeal pursuant to *State v. Sery*, 758 P.2d 935 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The Defendant was sentenced on August 7, 2006, to serve an indeterminate term of zero to five years at the Utah State Prison and a concurrent indeterminate term of one to fifteen years at the Utah State Prison. The Sentence, Judgment and Commitment was signed on August 7, 2006. A Notice of Appeal was filed on August 14, 2006. (R. 084-085).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The motion in limine in this case was argued on July 31, 2006, with both parties submitting the case on stipulated facts. (R. 100). These facts indicated that on the date alleged, Officer Hammond responded to the area of the Wonder Bread Bakery in Ogden, Utah, on a report to 911 of a man with a firearm. Officer Hammond claimed that he observed a man fitting the description of this individual and began pursuing. The individual ran and kept turning around and pointing at Officer Hammond what he described as silver, semiautomatic pistol. (R. 100/6).

Another witness at the scene was an employee in the Wonder Bread parking lot that encountered this individual and claims that within a distance of

ten to fifteen feet away the individual also pointed a weapon at him which he also described as a silver, very large, shiny semiautomatic handgun. (R. 100/6).

Officer Hammond lost track of the individual for approximately 20 seconds. When he apprehended the individual, who was identified as the Defendant, a search was undertaken in the area of the parking lot where the officer saw him disappear. Despite the efforts of several police officers utilizing rakes and a canine search dog, as well as the efforts of several Wonder Bread employees, the weapon could not be located. (R. 100/2). Approximately 172 days later a weapon that generally fit the description given by Officer Hammond and the other individual was found in the park strip outside the Wonder Bread bakery underneath some trees. (R. 100/2). All parties acknowledge that this area was located in a high crime region and was accessible to the general public. (R. 100/3).

While examining the weapon it was determined that someone had filed off the serial number. Apparently the serial number was raised by CSI, and a search of the national weapons database revealed no information as to it being stolen or any information linking it to the Defendant. (R. 100/3). The Defendant acknowledged running from the officer, but he has consistently maintained that he did not possess the firearm and did not threaten anyone with a weapon.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court denied the Defendant's motion in limine to exclude evidence of the weapon discovered 172 days after the alleged crime had occurred. This evidence, although somewhat relevant to the charge, was highly prejudicial and highly suspect. The trial court should have determined that any probative value was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. Based on the highly prejudicial effect of this evidence and the substantial danger that a jury would disregard the obviously tenuous link of the weapon to the Defendant, the Defendant elected to enter into a plea negotiation reserving the right to appeal this decision.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT RULED, PURSUANT TO A MOTION IN LIMINE, THAT IT WOULD ALLOW EVIDENCE TO BE PRESENTED TO THE JURY THAT A GUN WAS FOUND AT THE SCENE OF THE CRIME 172 DAYS AFTER THE ALLEGED DATE OF THE CRIME.

Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states that relevant, "evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury..." U.R.E. 403 (2004). When determining admissibility under Rule 403, trial courts must "weigh its probative value against its tendency to unfairly prejudice

the defendant.” *State v. Jamison*, 767 P.2d 134, 137 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). “Unfair prejudice” means “an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.” *State v. Maurer*, 770 P.2d 981, 984 (Utah 1989).

In *State v. Maurer*, 770 P.2d 981 (Utah 1989), the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder. Thirty-eight days after the homicide the defendant wrote the victim’s father a letter from the jail. The letter said among other things that the defendant was glad he killed the victim. He said that it “was a great feeling to watch her die.” The defendant signed the letter, “The killer, John H. Maurer.” *Id.* at 982.

The defendant filed a motion in limine to preclude the State from introducing the letter into evidence. The trial court denied the motion and found that the letter was probative of the defendant’s state of mind at the time of the homicide and would assist the jury in determining whether the defendant was guilty of murder or manslaughter. *Id.*

The defendant argued on appeal that even if the letter had some relevance, the prejudicial effect of the letter far exceeded its potential relevance under Rule 403. *Id.* at 983. Both the defendant and the State agreed that the central issue at the trial was the defendant’s state of mind at the time he killed

the victim. *Id.* The Supreme Court found that “the balance of the letter reflects defendant’s state of mind at the time the letter was written.” *Id.*

The Court recognized that it was “cognizant of the rule that the appraisal of the probative and prejudicial value of evidence under Rule 403 is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be upset on appeal absent manifest error.” *Id.* The Court went on to state that “any relevance which could be found therein was greatly and clearly outweighed by the danger of ‘unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, [and] misleading the jury.’” *Id.* The Supreme Court concluded that the trial court’s admission of the entire letter was clearly erroneous. *Id.*

The Supreme Court stated that “[s]ince all effective evidence is prejudicial in the sense of being damaging to the party against whom it is offered, prejudice which calls for exclusion is given a more specialized meaning:” *Id.* at 984. The Court then listed “an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis, . . . such as bias, sympathy, hatred, contempt, retribution or horror. Where a danger of unfair prejudice is perceived, the degree of likely prejudice must also be considered.” *Id.*

In *Maurer*, the Supreme Court stated that “[t]he mere fact that evidence possesses a tendency to suggest a decision upon an improper basis does not require exclusion; evidence may be excluded only if the danger of unfair

prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the proffered evidence.” *State v. Maurer*, 770 P.2d at 984.

The Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States guarantees a criminal defendant the right to an impartial jury. Likewise, Article I Section 12 of the Constitution of the State of Utah requires an impartial jury for a criminal defendant.

These constitutional protections were addressed in the case of *State v. Kell*, 2002 UT 106 at ¶30, 61 P.3d 1019. The Utah Supreme Court held:

Although rule 403 contains a presumption of admissibility of evidence, evidence that has “an unusually strong propensity to unfairly prejudice, inflame, or mislead a jury” will be deemed inadmissible. *State v. Lafferty*, 749 P.2d 1239, 1256 (Utah 1988). Inadmissible evidence may include gruesome photographs of a homicide victim’s corpse, evidence of a rape victim’s past sexual activities with someone other than the accused, and statistical evidence of matters not susceptible to quantitative analysis, such as witness veracity.

(R. 100)

In *State v. Bluff*, 2002 UT 66, ¶ 59, 52 P.3d 1210 (Utah 2002), the Utah Supreme Court stated that when deciding whether the risk of unfair prejudice under Rule 403 substantially outweighs the probative value, a number of factors need to be considered, including “the strength of the evidence as to the commission of the other crime,” and “the degree to which the evidence will rouse the jury to overmastering hostility.” (*Id.* at ¶ 59) The court went on to

state that “[e]ven though we have applied these factors in the past to ‘causes,’ we think they are equally applicable to determine the effect of a ‘wrong act’ as described in Rule 403.” *Id.*

The Utah Supreme Court has further held that evidence of a defendant’s prior bad acts can violate Rule 403 due to the prejudicial effect such evidence may carry to a jury. In *State v. Saunders*, 699 P.2d 738 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court stated that “[t]he bases of these limitations on the admissibility of evidence of prior crimes is the tendency of a fact finder to convict the accused because of bad character rather than because he is shown to be guilty of the offenses charged. Because of this tendency, such evidence is presumed prejudicial and, absent a reason for the admission of the evidence other than to show criminal disposition, the evidence is excluded.” *Id.* at 741

In the case at bar, the evidence that a weapon generally fitting the description of a gun the two State’s witnesses claimed to have seen would be highly prejudicial. The problems that arises in this case is that the evidence of the gun found 172 days after the alleged offense would almost certainly be given an inordinate amount of weight by a jury. Just as the evidence of prior convictions may be improperly utilized in obtaining a conviction, the evidence that a gun was found at the scene would be tempting for a jury to utilize to find the Defendant guilty.

The problem is that the probative value is virtually nonexistent. In the case at bar, the fact that a weapon generally matching the description of the weapon claimed to have been used at the scene was found nearly six months after the fact is highly suspect. The fact that it happens to match the general description of the witness's weapon is not unusual since hundreds of models of handguns are silver semiautomatic. The chance that this gun was ever held by the Defendant is speculative at best. The ability of the Defendant to refute the connection is not feasible. This is not because there is a high likelihood that the gun was the Defendant's, but rather because the passage of 172 days made the ability to fingerprint the weapon impossible. This leaves the Defendant in an untenable position. He could either try to brush off the evidence and hope the jury would disregard the prosecutor's efforts to link this gun to the Defendant, or he could attack this evidence during cross-examination of the State's witness. The problem with attempting a vigorous cross-examination is the danger that the jury may apply the old Shakespeare line, "The lady protests too much Methinks." (Hamlet, act 3, sc. 2, l. 219 (1604)). In either scenario the Defendant faces a high probability that he will lose.

The problem in the present case is that the presence of a gun is seminal to the entire case. Without a gun the prosecutors would be unable to convict the Defendant on the charge of possession of weapon by a restricted person. The

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