2006

State of Utah v. Christopher Simon Castillo : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

- a. The evidence before the court created a reasonable inference that the gun was used by defendant in committing this crime. Defendant’s concerns over the gun’s evidentiary support go to its weight, not its admissibility.

Under Rule 403, the probative value and the prejudicial effect of a piece of evidence are not considered in isolation, but are instead balanced against each other to determine

whether the evidence's prejudicial effect "substantially outweighs" the probative value. In this case, defendant asserts that the challenged gun's probative value was "virtually nonexistent." Aplt. Br. 14. This argument should be rejected.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a gun may be introduced for indirect, "illustrative purposes" in the absence of direct proof linking it to the crime in question. *State v. Banks*, 541 P.2d 808, 809 (Utah 1975). The State did not attempt to introduce this gun below as a mere illustration, however, but instead argued that this was in fact the gun that defendant used while committing his crime. R. 100: 8.

It does not appear that any Utah appellate court has considered the question of how much evidentiary foundation a weapon must have in order to have probative value at trial. Other states that have examined this question, however, have consistently held that the prosecution does not need to irrefutably link a weapon to the actual crime in order to introduce the weapon at trial. In *Aiken v. State*, 647 A.2d 1229 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1994), for example, the Maryland Court of Special Appeals held that "physical evidence need not be positively connected with the accused or the crime to be admissible; it is admissible where there is a reasonable probability of its connection with the accused or the crime." *Id.* at 1237 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In *State v. Miller*, 208 S.W.3d 284 (Mo. Ct. App. 2006), the Missouri Court of Appeals likewise held that "[i]dentifications of weapons need not be unequivocal. . . . To warrant the admission in evidence of an instrument or weapon . . . a prima facie showing of identity and connection with the crime is necessary and sufficient; clear, certain, and positive proof is not required." *Id.* at 288 (internal quotation

marks and citation omitted). Thus, “[a] weapon does not have to be tied ballistically to the crime to be admissible.” *People v. Prast*, 319 N.W.2d 627, 636 (Mich. Ct. App. 1982).

The decision in *Commonwealth v. Oliver*, 674 A.2d 287 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1996), is particularly instructive given the facts at issue here. The victim in *Oliver* was beaten to death with a pipe in 1986, but Oliver and his conspirator were not arrested for the crime until 1993. *Id.* at 289-90. Following the arrests, Oliver’s conspirator began cooperating with the police and led them to a “forested area” “two-tenths of a mile from the murder scene” where the police found a pipe resembling the one used in the attack “30 feet off the [right hand side of the] road and 16 feet into the woods.” *Id.* at 291 (alteration in original). Even though the pipe could not be scientifically tied to either the murder or to the defendant, and even though the pipe had been discovered in a forested area eight years after the commission of the crime, the appellate court still held that there was enough evidence to allow the weapon to be submitted to the jury. *Id.* at 291-92. According to the court, “[t]here is no requirement that the item sought to be introduced into evidence is the actual weapon used in the attack.” *Id.* at 291. Instead, “[t]he only burden is to justify, from the circumstances of the finding, ‘an inference of the likelihood of its having been used.’” *Id.* (quoting *Commonwealth v. Brown*, 359 A.2d 393, 397 (Pa. 1976)). The court therefore rejected Oliver’s Rule 403 challenge because (1) the pipe “was consistent” with the conspirator’s description of the pipe used in the attack, and (2) the pipe had been located in “the approximate area” where the crime had occurred. *Id.*

Though various courts have differed somewhat regarding the precise formulation of the rule, they have nevertheless consistently held that precise physical proof linking a

weapon to a crime is not required in order to support the weapon's admission. *See, e.g., Mims v. State*, 591 So.2d 120, 124 (Ala. Crim. App. 1991) (allowing admission of a gun “[w]here there is sufficient evidence to justify a reasonable inference that items were used by the accused in the commission of the crime charged”); *Holloway v. State*, 296 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ga. Ct. App. 1982) (“Where, as here, the victim of a crime identifies a weapon as similar to that used in the commission of the crime, the weapon is admissible whether or not it is the identical weapon”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *State v. Loa*, 926 P.2d 1258, 1273 (Haw. 1996) (“Evidence is admissible if the court, in the exercise of its wide discretion in such matters, decides that sufficient proof has been introduced so that a reasonable juror could find in favor of authenticity or identification.” (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)); *State v. Olson*, 436 N.W.2d 817, 820 (Minn. Ct. App. 1989) (“An object is admissible into evidence if it tends to connect the defendant to the crime.”); *State v. Grooms*, 540 S.E.2d 713, 727 (N.C. 2000) (rejecting a defendant’s Rule 403 challenge to a weapon that was located near the victim’s body and which matched the type of wound inflicted on the victim); *State v. Provost*, 352 So.2d 661, 664 (La. 1977) (“For the admission of demonstrative evidence, it suffices if the foundation laid establishes that it is more probable than not that the object is the one connected with the case.”); *State v. Kenny*, 818 P.2d 420, 425 (N.M. Ct. App. 1991) (allowing admission of a gun because the victim had testified that the gun “was similar” to the gun held by the assailant and because the caliber of the proffered gun matched that of the crime weapon); *State v. Evans*, 742 A.2d 715, 720 (R.I. 1999) (“When a handgun is offered into evidence it is relevant and admissible as long as there is a probability that it was connected to the crime charged.”).

The district court below entered specific findings supporting a reasonable inference that this gun was used by defendant on November 11, 2005. The district court noted that the gun: (1) “match[ed] the description given by several witnesses”; (2) “was found in the area where the [d]efendant would have had access to dispose of it”; and (3) “was found in a condition indicative of the fact that it had been outside for quite a long time.” R. 96. The court also noted that the gun was found “underneath the bushes” “on the West side of the property near where the Defendant would have run on November 11, 2005,” R. 94, thus indicating that the gun had been deliberately hidden.

It may theoretically be possible that some other unidentified person also had the need to hide a chrome semiautomatic pistol under the bushes by the Hostess Bakery Plant in Ogden during the 2005-06 winter, and it may also be theoretically possible that this unidentified person’s gun matched the specific type, size, and color of the gun that was pointed at Officer Hammond and Brian Pierce. Contrary to defendant’s assertions, however, the abstract possibility that some other person placed this gun under the bushes does not negate the very realistic probability that this was instead the gun that defendant pointed at Officer Ken Hammond and Brian Pierce.

Defendant commits two fundamental legal errors in asserting otherwise. First, defendant’s claim that Rule 403 generally prevents the admission of weak evidence improperly confuses the concepts of weight and admissibility. In *State v. Smith*, 728 P.2d 1014 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court held that questions regarding “the persuasiveness of evidence” go to “weight, not . . . admissibility.” *Id.* at 1016. In *State v. Colwell*, 2000 UT 8, 994 P.2d 177, the court similarly held that “[i]t is . . . the responsibility of

the jury to evaluate the evidence and give its own weight to the evidence in rendering its verdict.” *Id.* at ¶42; *see also Depew v. Sullivan*, 2003 UT App 152, ¶42, 71 P.3d 601 (“[I]f [a party] wishes to discredit the testimony, or if he wishes the jury to give little weight to it—two notions that are separate issues from the admissibility of the testimony—he is, of course, welcome to invite an expert witness of his own to contradict” the witness.).

This rule has been consistently applied by other courts that have considered challenges to the admissibility of weapons. The Alabama Court of Criminal Appeals, for example, affirmed a lower court’s decision to admit a revolver by holding that “[t]he lack of positive identification goes to the weight of the evidence, rather than to its admissibility. Ultimately, connexity of physical evidence is a factual matter for determination by the jury.” *Mims*, 591 So.2d at 124 (quoting *State v. Nelson*, 259 So.2d 46, 51-52 (La. 1972)); *see also Aiken*, 647 A.2d at 1231-32 (“the lack of positive identification affects only the weight of the evidence” (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)); *Olson*, 436 N.W.2d at 820 (“The lack of an absolute connection between the object introduced into evidence and the alleged crime does not affect the admissibility of the challenged evidence, but only its weight.”); *Miller*, 208 S.W.3d at 288 (“Less than absolute identifications of real evidence speak to the weight of the evidence, not admissibility.”); *Provost*, 352 So.2d at 665; *Commonwealth v. Moore*, 567 A.2d 701, 706 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1989). In this case, the district court rejected defendant’s motion based on its conclusion that issues of “weight and credibility [are] for the jury to decide.” R. 96. That conclusion was correct.

Second, defendant is also incorrect in asserting that a weapon should generally be excluded based on the passage of time between the crime and the discovery of the weapon.

“Remoteness goes to the weight, not the admissibility, of evidence.” *Olympus Hills Shopping Ctr., Ltd. v. Smith’s Food & Drug Ctrs., Inc.*, 889 P.2d 445, 455 n.10 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

“The fact that a considerable length of time elapsed after the crime before the weapon or instrument was found . . . goes to the probative force but not the admissibility of the evidence.” *Miller*, 208 S.W.3d at 288 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “As the interval of time between the possession of the instrument of crime and the criminal event lengthens, the probative value of the evidence may become more tenuous, but that consideration is one for the jury to resolve in evaluating the weight of the evidence; the competency of the evidence is not affected.” *Commonwealth v. Clark*, 421 A.2d 374, 375-77 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1980); *see also Mayfield v. State*, 588 So.2d 215, 217-18 (Ala. Crim. App. 1991); *People v. Taylor*, 804 P.2d 196, 201-02 (Colo. Ct. App. 1990); *Holliday v. State*, 389 So.2d 679, 681 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1980); *State v. Fenton*, 620 P.2d 813, 821 (Kan. 1980); *State v. Smith*, 32 S.W.3d 532, 554 (Mo. 2000); *State v. Murillo*, 509 S.E.2d 752, 763 (N.C. 1998); *Oliver*, 674 A.2d at 292; *Thompson v. State*, 59 S.W.3d 802, 808 (Tex. App. 2001); *Walker v. Commonwealth*, 515 S.E.2d 565, 573-74 (Va. 1999); *State v. McIntosh*, 534 S.E.2d 757, 768 (W.Va. 2000).

Had defendant in this case not pleaded guilty and instead gone to trial, he would have had every opportunity to discuss the perceived flaws in the State’s evidence with the jury. He could have pointed to the lack of fingerprints, to the 172-day gap, and to the fact that the bushes where the gun had been buried were accessible to the public. The State, in turn, would have noted that the gun matched the description given by a civilian who saw the gun from a distance of four feet, that it also matched the description given by a trained police officer who saw the gun from a distance of approximately fifteen yards, that it was found

buried alongside the very path where defendant had run while fleeing from police, and that it was discovered in a condition indicative of having sat outside throughout the winter. As with all other pieces of evidence, the jury would have been entirely free to give this piece of evidence whatever weight it deemed appropriate. Contrary to defendant's assertions, however, the gun was sufficiently connected to this crime to have had clear probative value for purposes of Rule 403.

- b. Although defendant may have been prejudiced by the admission of this gun, this prejudice would have resulted from the gun's probative weight, not from a tendency to appeal to an improper basis for conviction.

Under the second prong of the Rule 403 balancing, evidence can be excluded where the probative value "is substantially outweighed" by the danger of "unfair prejudice." Contrary to defendant's assertion, the admission of this gun would not have been unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403.

It "would be difficult to conceive of a trial at which the prosecution's evidence was not prejudicial to the defendant." *Moore*, 567 A.2d at 706. Rule 403 is only implicated "when the evidence is so prejudicial that it sweeps the jury beyond a rational consideration of guilt or innocence of the crime on trial." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, while "[v]irtually all evidence is prejudicial—if the truth be told, that is almost always why the proponent seeks to introduce it— . . . it is only *unfair* prejudice against which the law protects." *United States v. Barrow*, 448 F.3d 37, 43 (1st Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted) (emphasis in original), *cert denied*, 127 S.Ct. 176 (2006).

The question before this Court is whether the prejudice that defendant would have suffered would have qualified as "unfair prejudice." In *State v. Maurer*, 770 P.2d 981 (Utah

1989), the Utah Supreme Court held that unfair prejudice within the context of Rule 403 “means an undue tendency to suggest decision on an improper basis.” *Id.* at 984 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In general, evidence is deemed to be directed at an “improper basis” when it has an undue tendency to “cause the jury to base its decision on something other than the established propositions of the case.” *State v. Lindgren*, 910 P.2d 1268, 1272 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Such evidence “commonly, though not necessarily” appeals to such “emotion[s]” as “bias, sympathy, hatred, contempt, retribution or horror.” *Maurer*, 770 P.2d at 984. Rule 403 is therefore an “inclusionary rule,” and “presumes the admission of all relevant evidence except where the evidence has an unusual propensity to unfairly prejudice, inflame, or mislead the jury.” *State v. Ramirez*, 924 P.2d 366, 369 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); *see also Mangrum & Benson on Utah Evidence* at 123 (stating that Rule 403 “favors admissibility”).

Contrary to defendant’s assertions, the gun in question would not have “tempt[ed]” the jury to base its ruling on “something other than the established propositions of the case.” Aplt. Br. 13. Instead, the gun goes to the central question at issue: whether defendant actually possessed a chrome semiautomatic handgun and pointed it at Officer Hammond and Brian Pierce. Nothing about this gun speaks to bias, or hatred, or horror, or to any of the other emotion-laden examples of impermissible prejudice under Rule 403. Nothing about this gun directs the jury toward an irrational conclusion that is removed from the elements of this crime. While this gun may very well have had a prejudicial effect on this case, the prejudicial effect would have been based on the fact that the gun was linked to the

circumstances and location of the crime and that it matched the stories of the two victims. This type of corroborative, probative evidence is simply not barred by Rule 403.

Defendant additionally asserts that he would have been unfairly prejudiced by being forced to cross-examine the State's witnesses regarding the gun. Aplt. Br. 14-15. Defendant would apparently have this Court adopt a rule allowing for the exclusion of evidence if any party feels the need to challenge it at trial. This argument is at odds with the basic structure of the American judicial system, however, which regards cross-examination and adversarial testing as optimal means for uncovering truth. *See, e.g., Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 61 (2004); *Maryland v. Craig*, 497 U.S. 836, 845-46 (1990) (referring to "adversarial testing" as "the norm of Anglo-American criminal proceedings"). Rather than preventing juries from deciding hard factual questions, the American system explicitly trusts juries to do exactly that. Rule 403 does not purport to alter the structure of this system, and defendant's argument to the contrary should be rejected.

In prosecuting a defendant, "the government is perfectly free to introduce weak, as well as strong, evidence." *United States v. Maravilla*, 907 F.2d 216, 222 (1st Cir. 1990). "Under our system . . . a party offers his evidence not *en masse*, but item by item. An item of evidence . . . need not prove conclusively the proposition for which it is offered. . . . A brick is not a wall." *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). As in *Maravilla*, "[n]o one claimed that this particular piece of evidence *proved* guilt. It was merely one piece of evidence among many." *Id.* The district court therefore did not err in ruling that the gun could be submitted to the jury.

- c. Even if the district court abused its discretion in admitting the gun, the error was harmless.

Defendant claims that “the prosecutors would be unable to convict” him without the gun. Aplt. Br. 15. This Court should reject that argument and instead hold that even if the district court did abuse its discretion in admitting the gun, this error was harmless.

An error is deemed harmless if the error “is sufficiently inconsequential that there is no reasonable likelihood that it affected the outcome of the proceedings.” *State v. Evans*, 2001 UT 22, ¶20, 20 P.3d 888. With regard to evidentiary questions, “[e]ven if the evidence was erroneously admitted, that fact alone is insufficient to set aside a verdict unless it has had a substantial influence in bringing about the verdict.” *State v. Bluff*, 2002 UT 66, ¶47, 52 P.3d 1210 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

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